# DO NOT REMOVE ORIGINAL



# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA,

Respondent,

V.

DAVID L. INGRAM,

Petitioner.

Case No.: 19-0016 Circuit Court No.: 18-F-28 & 163 Fayette County, West Virginia

# PETITIONER'S BRIEF

Matthew Brummond Appellate Counsel W.Va. Bar No. 10878 Public Defender Services Appellate Advocacy Division One Players Club Drive, Suite 301 Charleston, WV 25311 (304) 558-3905 Matt.D.Brummond@wv.gov

Counsel for the Petitioner

#

# ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

The circuit court applied an incorrect legal standard to judge Petitioner's life recidivist sentence and erroneously concluded that his prior convictions showed sufficient violence to satisfy the Proportionality Clause of the West Virginia Constitution.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Fayette County jury convicted Petitioner for delivering two Schedule II controlled substances, cocaine and methamphetamine, based on controlled buys conducted by police and a confidential informant. A recidivist jury then found that Petitioner had, in 1997, pleaded guilty to non-aggravated robbery and, in 2015, to attempted third offense shoplifting.

Petitioner appeals his recidivist sentence because the circuit court used an incorrect standard to determine that the life prison term satisfied the Proportionality Clause of the West Virginia Constitution.<sup>4</sup> Petitioner asks this Court to apply the correct standard from State v. Lane<sup>5</sup> and vacate his sentence as disproportionate.

# 1. A jury found that a CI made two controlled drug buys from Petitioner.

A drug addict agreed to cooperate with the police as a confidential informant and named Petitioner as an acquaintance who would sell her drugs. They set up a controlled buy in which the CI would purchase drugs from Petitioner at his home. She entered Petitioner's trailer with fifty dollars, and a short time later she left with cocaine.

A.R. 215-16.

<sup>2</sup> See A.R. 98.

<sup>3</sup> A.R. 342-43.

<sup>4</sup> W. Va. Const. Art. III, § 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> State v. Lane, 241 W. Va. 532, 826 S.E.2d 657 (2019).

<sup>6</sup> A.R. 105-107.

<sup>7</sup> A.R. 107.

<sup>8</sup> A.R. 107-08.

A few days later, the CI agreed to buy drugs from Petitioner's car parked outside a Dollar Tree; she entered the car with sixty dollars and left with methamphetamine.9

In total, the street value of the cocaine and meth was \$110.10 An officer testified these were small quantities, consistent with the CIs past purchases for personal consumption.11 For both occasions, police followed the CI and monitored the situation.12 The CI did not wear a camera inside Petitioner's home, 13 but her visit was "short" and unremarkable.15 In the car, she wore a camera that recorded a short, amicable transaction.16

# The State used the conviction to trigger a third offense recidivist information.

The jury convicted Petitioner of both delivery counts.<sup>17</sup> The State then used the convictions to trigger a third offense recidivist information.<sup>18</sup> For predicates, the State relied upon a 1997 non-aggravated robbery guilty plea for an offense that occurred when Petitioner was eighteen years old.<sup>19</sup> It also charged that in 2015, he pleaded guilty to attempted third offense shoplifting.<sup>20</sup>

Per statute, Petitioner remained silent to hold the State to its burden of proof.<sup>21</sup> The recidivist jury found Petitioner was the same individual previously convicted as charged in the information.<sup>22</sup> The circuit court then ordered a pre-sentence investigation and set a hearing for final disposition.<sup>23</sup>

<sup>9</sup> A.R. 110-11.

<sup>10</sup> A.R. 107, 110.

<sup>11</sup> A.R. 113-14.

<sup>12</sup> A.R. 108, 111.

<sup>13</sup> See A.R. 378A.

<sup>14</sup> A.R. 108.

<sup>15</sup> See A.R. 120.

<sup>16</sup> See A.R. 378A; see also A.R. 130.

<sup>17</sup> A.R. 215-16.

<sup>18</sup> A.R. 379-84.

<sup>19</sup> Compare A.R. 281 with A.R. 382.

<sup>20</sup> A.R. 383.

<sup>21</sup> See W. Va. Code § 61-11-19; A.R. 228.

<sup>22</sup> A.R. 342-43.

<sup>23</sup> A.R. 345-46.

# The circuit court denied Petitioner's motion to declare the life recidivist sentence unconstitutionally disproportionate to the charged priors.

Before sentencing, Petitioner filed a motion arguing that, based on the triggering and predicate felonies charged in the information, a life recidivist sentence would violate the Proportionality Clause of the West Virginia Constitution.<sup>24</sup>

For the most recent triggering offense, Petitioner argued that neither controlled buy involved actual or threatened violence.<sup>25</sup> He further asserted that the drug quantities involved were on the low end for drug sales: 0.383 grams of cocaine and 0.510 grams of methamphetamine.<sup>26</sup> To put these amounts in perspective, a United States dime has a mass of 2.268 grams—over two and a half times that of both drugs, combined.<sup>27</sup>

As to the predicates, Petitioner argued that the attempted third offense shoplifting conviction was not a violent crime.<sup>28</sup> He conceded that the 1997 non-aggravated robbery conviction involved a threat of force, but argued that an offense from twenty-one years ago, committed when Petitioner was eighteen, failed to show a pattern or escalation in violence and should not enhance a drug delivery conviction to a life sentence.<sup>29</sup>

The State did not file a written response to Petitioner's motion.<sup>30</sup> At sentencing, it argued that the circuit court had discretion to impose a life sentence under the totality of the circumstances.<sup>31</sup>

The circuit court expressed concern that case law did not provide it with clear guidance.<sup>32</sup> In considering the appropriateness of a life sentence, it did not limit its analysis to

<sup>24</sup> A.R. 548-59.

<sup>25</sup> A.R. 551-52.

<sup>26</sup> A.R. 378B, 553.

<sup>27 31</sup> U.S.C.A. § 5112 (West).

<sup>28</sup> A.R. 554.

<sup>29</sup> A.R. 556, 361.

<sup>30</sup> A.R. 352-53.

<sup>31</sup> A.R. 367.

<sup>32</sup> A.R. 360.

the actual facts of the triggering offense and it looked beyond the fact of conviction for the predicate offenses.<sup>33</sup>

For the triggering offense, the court found that based on the State's version of events, Petitioner's delivery convictions did not involve actual or threatened violence.<sup>34</sup> However, the court rejected Petitioner's argument to confine its analysis to the actual facts found by the jury. It instead ruled in the abstract that drug sales "certainly have the potential for violence."<sup>35</sup>

The court agreed that the attempt to shoplift predicate was non-violent.<sup>36</sup> For the remote predicate, the 1997 non-aggravated robbery, the court did not limit its analysis to the conviction charged in the information. Instead, the court noted that Petitioner pleaded down from first degree robbery and inferred that the underlying conduct must have been more serious.<sup>37</sup> It did not address Petitioner's remoteness argument.

Based on its finding that any drug sale is inherently dangerous and that first degree robbery, as originally charged, is violent, the court therefore concluded that Petitioner deserved a life sentence.<sup>38</sup>

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioner's case exposes a conflict in this Court's case law that recently found expression in two competing cases: State v. Lane and State v. Norwood, decided in April and May 2019, respectively. Petitioner argued his triggering offense was not violent based on the facts found by the jury—the standard this Court used in Lane. The circuit court, however, looked beyond the trial evidence to conclude that drug sales carry an inherent potential for violence—the standard this Court applied in Norwood. Petitioner urges the Court

<sup>33</sup> See A.R. 367-74.

<sup>34</sup> A.R. 368, 372.

<sup>35</sup> A.R. 368-69.

<sup>36</sup> A.R. 372.

<sup>37</sup> See A.R. 356-57, 372.

<sup>38</sup> A.R. 372-73, 571.

to reject Norwood's standard as unworkable. Instead, the Court should use this opportunity to explicitly adopt Lane's fact-based approach for analyzing triggering offenses.

Following the correct standard shows that Petitioner's history does not involve a pattern or escalating trend of violence necessary to justify a life sentence. His case is similar to *State v. Lane*, and as proportionality is a question of law that should produce consistent and predictable results, Petitioner's outcome should be the same as Lane's.

Petitioner's triggering offense is a controlled buy of a Schedule II drug, which, as the circuit court itself found, did not involve actual or threatened violence—just as in Lane. His most recent predicate offense likewise involves no actual or threatened violence—just as in Lane. His remote predicate did involve violence—just as in Lane—but it occurred decades ago, when he was a teenager. If an eighteen-year-old unlawful wounding conviction did not justify a life recidivist sentence for Lane, a twenty-year-old non-aggravated robbery conviction should not subject Petitioner to a life sentence, either.

### STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

Petitioner argues that his recidivist life sentence, triggered by his convictions for delivery of a Schedule II controlled substance, violates the Proportionality Clause of the West Virginia Constitution. Because he asks that the Court vacate his sentence, oral argument and a signed opinion are appropriate.

Furthermore, Petitioner's case provides an opportunity to resolve a conflict in the law concerning violence analysis for recidivist-triggering offenses. In *State v. Lane*,<sup>39</sup> the Court looked to the recent trial to determine whether the crime, as committed, involved actual or threatened violence.<sup>40</sup> The Court rejected the State's invitation to consider the nature and impact of the drug trade itself.<sup>41</sup>

<sup>39</sup> State v. Lane, 241 W. Va. 532, 826 S.E.2d 657 (2019).

<sup>40</sup> Lane, 826 S.E.2d at 664.

<sup>41</sup> Id.

However, the Court did the opposite in Norwood.<sup>42</sup> It ignored the non-violent trial facts to find that the opiate heroin has a greater potential of violence than the opioid oxycodone. This analysis conflicts with the analysis just a few weeks earlier.<sup>43</sup>

This conflict exists due to a longstanding gap in West Virginia's case law. Although the Court has long held life recidivist sentences are only proportionate if the priors are violent, 44 it has not expressed a consistent standard for how to judge violence. 45

The Court should therefore grant Petitioner a Rule 20 argument to provide needed guidance to the circuit courts. Petitioner proposes the following syllabus points:

- In analyzing a life recidivist sentence under the Proportionality Clause of the West
  Virginia Constitution, W. Va. Const. Art. III, § 5, courts must gives initial emphasis to
  the facts underlying the triggering offense because its sentence is the one which will be
  enhanced and therefore it is the offense which the punishment must fit.
- 2. In a recidivist proceeding, the jury only needs to find identity: that the defendant on trial is the same individual convicted of the predicate offenses. Therefore, in considering the proportionality of a life recidivist sentence, a court must also limit its inquiry to the fact of conviction. A predicate offense charged in a recidivist information is violent if it includes an element of actual or threatened force against a person, such as malicious assault, or if, historically, the offense existed due to a grave concern for imminent potential violence, such as common law burglary or arson.
- 3. In a recidivist proceeding the triggering offense receives the most scrutiny and, if violent, may alone justify a life sentence. However, a life recidivist sentence may also comport with the Proportionality Clause of the West Virginia Constitution, W. Va. Code Art. III, § 5, if the predicates show the defendant has a propensity or escalating tendency towards violent behavior.

<sup>42</sup> State v. Norwood, W. Va. , S.E.2d , (2019).

<sup>43</sup> See Norwood, S.E.2d at (Workman, J., dissenting).

<sup>44</sup> See Syl. Pt. 4, Wanstreet v. Bordenkircher, 166 W. Va. 523 (1981).

<sup>45</sup> e. g. compare Lane, 826 S.E.2d at 664 with Norwood, \_\_\_\_ S.E.2d at \_\_\_\_.

# ARGUMENT

The circuit court applied an incorrect legal standard to judge Petitioner's life recidivist sentence and erroneously concluded that his prior convictions showed sufficient violence to satisfy the Proportionality Clause of the West Virginia Constitution.

As written, West Virginia's "recidivist statute is among the most draconian in the nation." However, the West Virginia Constitution requires that "[p]enalties ... be proportioned to the character and degree of the offence." Therefore, the Court reads the recidivist statute "... in a restrictive fashion in order to mitigate its harshness." The Proportionality Clause of the West Virginia Constitution only permits life recidivist sentences if the underlying crimes "involve actual or threatened violence to the person." In analyzing for violence, this Court "give[s] initial emphasis to the nature of the final offense which triggers the recidivist sentence, although consideration is also given to the other underlying convictions."

The standard of review is *de novo*. <sup>51</sup> Normally, trial courts exercise considerable discretion at sentencing. <sup>52</sup> However, courts have little discretion as to recidivist sentences. <sup>53</sup> If the triggering and predicate felonies show a propensity for violence, then the legislature only authorizes a life with mercy sentence. <sup>54</sup> In the alternative, the Proportionality Clause prohibits a life sentence if the charged priors do not show a pattern of violence. <sup>55</sup> Either

<sup>46</sup> Wanstreet v. Bordenkircher, 166 W. Va. 523, 536, 276 S.E.2d 205, 213 (1981).

<sup>47</sup> W. Va. Const. Art. III, § 5.

<sup>48</sup> Wanstreet, 166 W. Va. At 528.

<sup>49</sup> Svl. Pt. 7, State v. Beck, 167 W. Va. 830, 286 S.E.2d 234 (1981).

<sup>50</sup> Id

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> See Lane, 826 S.E.2d 657 at Syl. Pt. 4 (standard of review for the constitutionality of a sentence not reviewed under abuse of discretion standard).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> Cf. State v. Head, 198 W. Va. 298, 305, 480 S.E.2d 507, 514 (1996) (Rulings on W. Va. Crim. P. R. 35(b) motions entitled to considerable discretion because they are derivative of the initial sentencing decision) (Cleckley, J., concurring).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup> See Wantstreet, 166 W. Va. at 527 ("A recidivist proceeding is not simply a sentencing hearing ..."); id. At Syl. Pt. 2 ("In [habitual criminal proceedings] a court has no inherent or common law power or jurisdiction.").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup> Cf. State ex rel. Daye v. McBride, 222 W. Va. 17, 24, 658 S.E.2d 547, 554 (2007) (courts lack authority to impose second-time recidivist sentences for third-time recidivists).

<sup>55</sup> See supra, at n. 46.

way, the propriety of a life recidivist sentence is a question of law and not discretion or grace. 56

Because the imposition of a life recidivist sentence is a question of law, circuit courts require clear guidance. <sup>57</sup> However, two recent cases from this Court highlight a conflict in the case law by applying contrary legal standards. *Lane* looked to the actual facts presented to the jury for the triggering offense. <sup>58</sup> Yet in *Norwood*, the analysis eschews the facts and looks outside the record to determine whether, in the abstract, the triggering offense could have been violent. <sup>59</sup> To remedy this conflict and provide a consistent rule for trial courts, this Court should adopt the fact-based standard from *Lane* and vacate Petitioner's life sentence as disproportionate. <sup>60</sup>

# The circuit court applied the wrong legal standard by ignoring the triggering offense's facts to instead focus on the court's opinion on the drug trade.

Though the circuit court sentenced Petitioner before Lane or Norwood, 61 this case reflects the same inconsistency apparent between those decisions. Petitioner urged the circuit court to focus on the facts used to convict Petitioner of the triggering offense, as this Court did in Lane, 62 By instead looking outside the record to the drug trade generally, the circuit court conducted the same analysis as the Norwood Court. 63 Lane provides the better rule, and the circuit court therefore erred.

<sup>56</sup> See Lane, 826 S.E.2d 657 at Syl. Pt. 4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup> Wanstreet, 166 W. Va. at 531 ("The utilization of a series of objective standards to determine whether a particular sentence violates our constitutional concept of proportionality is designed to prevent sentencing patterns that merely reflect the personal predilections of individual judges. ... Such objective standards also ensure that appellate courts will not inject their personal views as to appropriateness of a given sentence unless the sentence can be shown to have violated the objective criteria of constitutional proportionality.").

<sup>58</sup> See Lane, 826 S.E.2d at 663-64.

<sup>59</sup> See Norwood, S.E.2d at

<sup>60</sup> See, supra, at n. 58.

<sup>61</sup> Compare A.R. 570 with Lane, 826 S.E.2d 657 (2019) and Norwood, \_\_\_\_ S.E.2d \_\_\_ (2019).

<sup>62</sup> See Lane, 826 S.E.2d at 664.

<sup>63</sup> Norwood, S.E.2d at .

In Lane, this Court looked first to the facts of the triggering offense.<sup>64</sup> Conversely for the predicate offenses, the Court analyzed the statutory elements for violence without regard for any proffered facts concerning the years-old convictions.<sup>65</sup>

Norwood, decided weeks after Lane, employed a qualitatively different analysis for the triggering offense. The Court in Lane rejected the State's argument to consider the nature of the drug trade and ruled the transaction nonviolent based solely on the facts presented to the jury. 66 Yet in Norwood, the Court did precisely the opposite. It conceded that the facts showed an entirely non-violent transaction but looked outside the record to decide, in the abstract, that selling drugs can be dangerous. 67

Lane and Norwood do not merely reach different outcomes from applying the same standard to distinguishable cases; they applied two different, irreconcilable standards for judging violence, and it is unclear which approach circuit courts should employ going forward. To provide guidance, this Court should adopt Lane as the better rule.

Lane's focus on the triggering conviction's facts best comports with the text of the Proportionality Clause, which commands that the punishment fit "the offence" Though "offense" can be an ambiguous term, 69 for purposes of proportionality this Court looks to whether the actual conduct warrants a particular sentence. 70 Even when the Court compares the statutory definition to other jurisdictions, it still considers the facts of conviction to determine which foreign crimes the defendant's conduct would implicate. 71 And Petitioner is unaware of any case in which the Court has invalidated a statutory sentence

<sup>64</sup> Lane, 826 S.E.2d at 664.

<sup>65</sup> See id.

<sup>66</sup> Lane, 826 S.E.2d at 663-64.

<sup>67</sup> Norwood, \_\_\_\_ S.E.2d at \_\_\_\_ 68 W. Va. Const. Art. III, § 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>69</sup> Cf. U.S. v. Stitt, \_\_\_\_ U.S. \_\_\_\_, 139 S. Ct. 399, 405 (2018) (The term "crime" may refer to general, statutory definition or a specific occurrence meeting that definition.).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>70</sup> See, e.g., State v. Williams, 205 W. Va. 552, 555, 519 S.E.2d 835, 838 (1999) (per curiam).

<sup>71</sup> See, e.g., State v. Gibbs, 238 W. Va. 646, 661, 797 S.E.2d 623, 638 (2017).

range as disproportionate in the abstract; the question is always whether the defendant's conduct, as found by the jury, warrants the sentence, as imposed by the trial court.<sup>72</sup>

Similarly, Lane's standard accords with the triggering offense's primacy: "[T]he third felony is entitled to more scrutiny than the preceding felony convictions since it provides the ultimate nexus to the sentence." Recidivism enhances the penalty for the triggering offense, not the predicates. Therefore, it is the defendant's conduct leading to the triggering offense that must fit the punishment.

Finally, Norwood's unbounded approach is unworkable. If not limited by the facts found by the jury, one could see potential harm arising from any crime; even shoplifting could lead to a confrontation between a would-be thief and store clerk. If the test for violence is left solely to inexhaustible judicial imagination, then this Court would lose the authority to review the proportionality of circuit court decisions because trial judges could never be wrong. Or, this Court would have to dictate lower courts' judgments by declaring whether each, individual offense listed in the criminal code is violent on a piecemeal basis. A so-called standard that cannot be reviewed, or which always requires one-off judgments, has no predictive power and is no standard at all.<sup>74</sup>

This Court has endorsed inconsistent rules for judging the proportionality of triggering offenses. Circuit courts require clarification, and only this Court's analysis in *Lane*provides a workable framework. Circuit courts should analyze the facts which underly the
triggering offense and examine the elements of the predicates. The circuit court therefore
erred when it applied the *Norwood* analysis to Petitioner's case.

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