**FILE COPY**

**DO NOT REMOVE  
FROM FILE**



**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA  
NO. 19-0016**

**STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA,**

*Plaintiff Below, Respondent*

**v.**

**DAVID I. INGRAM,**

*Defendant Below, Petitioner.*

---

**RESPONDENT'S BRIEF**

---

**PATRICK MORRISEY  
ATTORNEY GENERAL**

**MARY BETH NIDAY  
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL  
W.Va. State Bar # 9092  
812 Quarrier Street, 6<sup>th</sup> Floor  
Charleston, WV 25301  
(304) 558-5830  
Fax: (304) 558-5833  
Mary.B.Niday@wvago.gov  
*Counsel for Respondent Appellate Division***

##

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

While Petitioner's case is rendered meritless by settled West Virginia law, the State urges this Court to adopt a categorical approach to delivery of narcotics-related offenses. Such offenses are inherently violent based upon the effect the delivery of illegal narcotics has on the user, the public, emergency services personnel, police, and even the dealers themselves. By requiring a trial court to undergo a per-case analysis as to whether a delivery-related offense carries the risk of real or threatened violence, this Court effectively requires the State to retry prior drug convictions, some of which may be decades old and outside of West Virginia jurisdiction. Moreover, by failing to adopt a bright-line categorical approach, this Court would leave the door open to challenges of ineffective assistance of counsel based upon defense counsel's inability to clearly communicate the ramifications of a guilty plea involving a third-offense felony or a delivery of narcotics conviction. Finally, any distinction made between the delivery of prescription opioids and illegal street narcotics is demonstrably false, as such drugs are intermingled in the illegal marketplace. For these reasons, the State respectfully requests that this Court (1) affirm the recidivist life enhancement penalty entered by the circuit court below, and (2) adopt a categorical approach finding that the delivery of narcotics, regardless of type, carries with it a perceivable risk of both real and threatened violence.

#### **STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION**

Given this Court's recent decision in *State v. Norwood*, No. 17-0978, 2019 WL 2332195 (W.Va. May 30, 2019), a conviction for the delivery of illegal narcotics may be used as a qualifying offense in support of a recidivist life enhancement penalty. Petitioner's appeal challenges the Circuit Court's recidivist life enhancement to his sentence for felony delivery of cocaine conviction and asserts that the enhancement is unconstitutionally disproportionate. To the extent that this Court wishes to entertain the State's request for a categorical approach including delivery of narcotics offenses as "crimes of violence" under W.Va. Code § 61-11-18, oral argument is

requested. Otherwise, Petitioner's claims rely on well-settled case law, meaning that oral argument is unnecessary pursuant to W.Va. R. App. P. 18(a), and that the matter may be properly disposed by memorandum decision under W.Va. R. App. P. 21(c).

## **ARGUMENT**

### **A. Standard of Review.**

This Court reviews sentencing orders “under a deferential abuse of discretion standard, unless the order violates statutory or constitutional commands.” Syl. pt. 1, in part, *State v. Lucas*, 201 W.Va. 271, 273, 496 S.E.2d 221, 223 (1997); *see also* Syl. pt. 1, in part, *State v. Adams*, 211 W.Va. 231, 565 S.E.2d 353 (2002). Sentences are not subject to appellate review “if within statutory limits and if not based on some [im]permissible factor[.]” Syl. pt. 1, in part, *State v. Goodnight*, 169 W.Va. 366, 287 S.E.2d 504, 505 (1982). “It is not the proper prerogative of this Court to substitute its judgment for that of the trial court on sentencing matters, so long as the appellant’s sentence was within the statutory limits, was not based upon any impermissible factors, and did not violate constitutional principles.” *State v. Georgius*, 225 W.Va. 716, 722, 696 S.E.2d 18, 24 (2010). When an issue is of a constitutional dimension, the question of law is reviewed de novo. *See* Syl. pt. 1, *State v. Finley*, 219 W.Va. 747, 639 S.E.2d 839 (2006) (citing Syl. pt. 1, in part, *Chrystal R.M. v. Charlie A.L.*, 194 W.Va. 138, 459 S.E.2d 415 (1995)).

### **B. West Virginia’s Recidivist Statute and the Constitutionality of a Recidivist Life Enhancement.**

Under W.Va. Code § 61-11-18(c), a criminal defendant convicted in West Virginia of a third felony offense shall be sentenced to life with the possibility of parole. The defendant’s prior qualifying offenses must be felonious, in that they are punishable by confinement in a penitentiary, and may be from any jurisdiction within the United States. *See id.* Even though provided by statute, however, a recidivist life enhancement must meet constitutional proportionality principles when

considering the nature of both the triggering offense and the prior qualifying offenses. *See generally State v. Kilmer*, 240 W.Va. 185, 188, 808 S.E.2d 867, 870 (2017).

The appropriateness of a recidivist life enhancement and the proportionality of such a penalty to the triggering and underlying offenses is subject to additional scrutiny due to the severity of the punishment. *See Syl. Pt. 4, Wanstreet v. Bordenkircher*, 166 W.Va. 523, 276 S.E.2d 205 (1981) (“While our constitutional proportionality standards theoretically apply to any criminal sentence, they are basically applicable to those sentences where there is either no fixed maximum set by statute or where there is a recidivist life sentence.”). Article III, Section 5 of the West Virginia Constitution, which contains the cruel and unusual punishment counterpart to the Eighth Amendment of the United States Constitution, has an express statement of the proportionality principle: ‘Penalties shall be proportioned to the character and degree of the offense.’” Syl. Pt. 3, *Wanstreet*, 166 W.Va. at 523, 276 S.E.2d at 205 (citing Syl. Pt. 8, *State v. Vance*, 164 W.Va. 216, 262 S.E.2d 423 (1980)).

In determining the constitutionality of a recidivist life enhancement, this Court has provided the following framework:

The appropriateness of a life recidivist sentence under our constitutional proportionality provision found in Article III, Section 5, will be analyzed as follows: We give initial emphasis to the nature of the final offense which triggers the recidivist sentence, although consideration is also given to the other underlying convictions. The primary analysis of these offenses is to determine if they involve actual or threatened violence to the person since crimes of this nature have traditionally carried the more serious penalties and therefore justify application of the recidivist statute.”

Syl. Pt. 3, *Kilmer* (citing Syl. Pt. 7, *State v. Beck*, 167 W. Va. 830, 286 S.E.2d 234 (1981)). The nature of the final, triggering offense is entitled to closer scrutiny than the prior convictions, “since it provides the ultimate nexus to the sentence.” *State v. Deal*, 178 W. Va. 142, 147, 358 S.E.2d

226, 231 (1987) (citing *Wanstreet* at 534, 276 S.E.2d at 212). Overall, “the sentencing provisions of . . . W. Va. Code § 61-11-18 (2000) are ‘free from ambiguity [and] its plain meaning is to be accepted and applied without resort to interpretation.’” *Norwood*, No. 17-0978 at 12, 2019 WL 2332195 at \*7 (citing Syl. Pt. 2, *Crockett v. Andrews*, 153 W. Va. 714, 172 S.E.2d 384 (1970)).

**C. Petitioner’s predicate offense for non-aggravated robbery is a crime of anticipated violence, and is thus proportionate to the imposition of a recidivist life enhancement.**

Petitioner’s first underlying felony conviction of non-aggravated robbery is a suitable basis upon which to invoke West Virginia’s recidivist statute when analyzing the facts surrounding the conviction. In May 1997, Petitioner was indicted for Aggravated Robbery in violation of W.Va. Code § 61-2-12, “by unlawfully, intentionally and feloniously taking United States Currency of some value from the person or presence of [the victim], by the threat or presentation of a deadly weapon, to-wit: a hand gun, and that in so doing, the said [co-defendant] did use, present or brandish a firearm[.]” (App. at 563.) The initial Criminal Complaint alleged Petitioner was the getaway driver for his co-defendant. (App. at 565.) In October 1997, Petitioner pleaded guilty to the lesser included offense of non-aggravated robbery. (App. at 554.)

In *State v. Harless*, 168 W.Va. 707, 712, 285 S.E.2d 461, 465 (1981), this Court held that “the distinguishing feature of a nonaggravated robbery is that it is accomplished, not through violence to the victim or the threat or presentation of firearms or other deadly weapon or instrumentality, but through intimidation that induces fear of bodily injury in the victim.” Conversely, the distinguishing feature of aggravated robbery “is violence to the victim or the threat or presentation of firearms or other deadly weapons.” *State v. Phillips*, 199 W.Va. 507, 511, 485 S.E.2d 676, 680 (1997).

This Court has acknowledged that aggravated robbery is “recognized as a crime that involves a high potentiality for violence and injury to the victim involved.” *State v. Ross*, 184

W.Va. 579, 582, 402 S.E.2d 248, 251 (1990) (per curiam); *State v. Glover*, 177 W.Va. 650, 659, 355 S.E.2d 631, 640 (1987) (“[A]ggravated robbery has always been regarded as a crime of the gravest character.”). In *State v. Adams*, 211 W.Va. 231, 234, 565 S.E.2d 353, 356 (2002), this Court explicitly stated that because of “the inherent potential for harm in an aggravated robbery,” the trial courts have broad discretion in imposing sentences for aggravated robbery. Although Petitioner argues that the non-aggravated robbery offense involved only “a threat of physical force without a weapon or actual harm” (Pet’r Br. at 12), the plea non-aggravated robbery, a lesser included offense, does not diminish the actual potential for injury or death in the commission of the offense when Petitioner’s co-defendant brandished a firearm. Moreover, contrary to Petitioner’s argument, the threat of physical force itself qualifies the offense for the life recidivist enhancement. The Circuit Court therefore, properly examined the facts of the conviction and plea to the lesser included offense and concluded that this non-aggravated robbery conviction was inherently a crime of violence.

Petitioner further argues that the non-aggravated robbery conviction occurred twenty years prior to his triggering offense and therefore, should not have been considered for purposes of the life recidivist enhancement. (Pet’r Br. at 12.) In *State v. Jones*, 187 W.Va. 600, 604, 420 S.E.2d 736, 740 (1992), this Court stated that common sense dictates “that the age of a prior conviction should have little bearing in a recidivist proceeding, when the underlying purpose of the statute is considered.” This Court explained its decision as follows:

Obviously, when the life recidivist statute is invoked, the defendant will have at least two prior felony convictions. If they are serious felonies, the defendant will have served lengthy prison sentences. This means that at the time of the life recidivist trial, one or more of the earlier convictions may be rather old. Yet, the deterrent purpose of the recidivist statute would hardly be served if earlier felony convictions could be excluded because of their ages.

*Jones*, 187 W.Va. at 604, 420 S.E.2d at 740. In *State v. Deal*, 178 W.Va. 142, 358 S.E.2d 226 (1987) however, this Court, in finding that the life recidivist sentence imposed was disproportionate to the offense upon which it was based, noted that in the sixteen years since the defendant's previous conviction of a violent felony, the defendant did not demonstrate any propensity toward violent or severe crimes. In the instant case however, Petitioner has been charged with at least twenty-six various crimes including but not limited to, minor traffic violations, obstruction, malicious wounding, destruction of property, shoplifting, assault, and driving suspended since initial robbery conviction in 1997. (App. at 571–73.) Consequently, Petitioner's non-aggravated robbery conviction is not too remote for purposes of the life recidivist enhancement.

Accordingly, this Court should find that Petitioner's predicate offense of non-aggravated robbery, a violent or potentially violent offense, fully supports the Constitutional proportionality of the life recidivist enhancement.

**D. Petitioner's triggering convictions for Delivery of Schedule II Controlled Substances (Cocaine and Meth) are crimes of real and threatened violence, and thus, are proportionate to the imposition of a recidivist life enhancement.**

Before discussing the particular facts of Petitioner's case and whether his prior convictions for delivery of Schedule II narcotics (cocaine and meth) are constitutionally sufficient to impose the sentence he received below, it is important to examine first the fluctuating nature of whether drug offenses are sufficient for purposes of the proportionality principle's impact on a recidivist life sentence. In 2007, this Court's decision in *State ex rel. Daye v. McBride*, 222 W. Va. 17, 658 S.E.2d 547 (2007), created the presumption that drug offenses were crimes of violence and were permissible for use as either triggering or qualifying offenses under West Virginia's recidivist statute. This presumption was relied upon in *State v. Harris*, 226 W. Va. 471, 477 at n. 14, 702

S.E.2d 603, 609 at n. 14 (2010), and remained in effect until the January 2019 term of court, when this Court suggested a departure from including drug offenses as prior qualifying convictions under W. Va. Code § 61-11-18 altogether in *State v. Lane*, 241 W. Va. 532, 826 S.E.2d 657 (2019). Then, in *Norwood*, this Court implemented a case-by-case approach to determine whether the use of prior drug offenses constitute crimes of actual or threatened violence and are qualifying offenses for life recidivist sentences. These differing approaches affect the claim raised by Petitioner on appeal for two reasons: *First*, *Norwood*, as the controlling authority, requires that this Court should affirm Petitioner's recidivist life sentence; and *second*, this Court should adopt a categorical approach for purposes of future recidivist proceedings involving the delivery of narcotics.

**1. Based upon this Court's recent opinion in *State v. Norwood*, the inherently illegal and dangerous nature of cocaine and meth, Petitioner's felony convictions are suitable for use in imposing a recidivist life enhancement.**

**a. This Court established an inference that convictions for delivery of narcotics are constitutionally proportionate for purposes of the imposition of a life recidivist penalty in *State ex rel. Daye v. McBride*.**

Beginning with this Court's decision in *Daye*, this Court entertained the appeal of a life sentence imposed for a third offense of possession with the intent to deliver cocaine. Therein, the State contended that the lower court had to sentence Daye to a life recidivist enhancement in accordance with the provisions of W. Va. Code § 61-11-18(c) after it filed an information pursuant to W. Va. Code § 61-11-19, regardless of the second or subsequent offense provisions of W. Va. Code § 60A-4-408 and the Uniform Controlled Substances Act. *Id.*, 222 W.Va. at 20-21, 658 S.E.2d at 550-51. This Court agreed with the State, finding that "when any person is convicted of an offense under the Uniform Controlled Substances Acts . . . and it is further determined . . . that such person has been before convicted in the United States of a crime or crimes, including crimes under the Uniform Controlled Substances Act, . . . punishable by confinement in a penitentiary,

the court *shall* sentence the person” pursuant to the provisions of W. Va. Code § 61-11-18. *Id.*, 222 W.Va. at 24, 658 S.E.2d at 554 (emphasis added).

While the Court did not explicitly address the proportionality of such delivery of controlled substance offenses against the constitutionality of a recidivist life sentence, it created the presumption that such offenses were sufficient as either triggering or prior qualifying offenses. *See* W. Va. R. App. P. 10(c) (providing this Court with discretion to consider “plain error not among the assignments of error but *evident from the record* and otherwise within its jurisdiction to decide”) (emphasis added). Indeed, this Court’s own subsequent opinions concluded that its decision in *Daye* founded a categorical approach permitting delivery of controlled substance convictions for use in imposing a recidivist life enhancement penalty. *See State v. Harris*, 226 W. Va. 471, 477 at n. 14, 702 S.E.2d 603, 609 at n. 14 (2010) (finding that *Daye* “affirm[ed the] use of prior convictions for drug offenses to impose life imprisonment under recidivist statutes.”).

**b. This Court then distinguished its holding in *Daye* through the recent decision in *State v. Lane*, adopting a case-by-case approach when examining the constitutional proportionality of drug offenses used when imposing a recidivist life enhancement.**

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